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	KENNETH J. SEYBERT, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                     Applicant,

                                                   v. 
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                                                  Employer,
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DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  199207766
AWCB Decision No.  10-0023
Filed with AWCB Fairbanks, Alaska

on January 28, 2010


On remand from the Alaska Supreme Court, the Northern Panel of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (“Board”) heard the employer's Petition to Compel Discovery
 and Petition to Determine Law of the Case on January 14, 2010, in Fairbanks, Alaska.  Attorney James Hackett represented the employee.  Attorney Robert McLaughlin represented the employer and insurer (“employer”).  The Board closed the record at the conclusion of the hearing on January 14, 2010.


PROCEEDINGS LEADING TO REMAND

In the relevant portions of a May 24, 2004 decision on this matter
 the Board discussed the case history and evidence in the record, as follows:

The employee injured his neck and shoulder on April 15, 1992, attempting to pry a pump into position, while working as a millwright for the employer at the Red Dog Mine.  The employee subsequently returned to his home in Elko, Nevada.  On or about April 24, 1994 the employee underwent an anterior C6-7 discectomy by J. Charles Rich, M.D., in Salt Lake City.
  Dr. Rich referred the employee to Neurosurgeon Hilari Fleming, M.D., on November 17, 1992, for a second opinion.
  David Dapra. M.D., performed an employer’s medical examination (“EME”) of the employee on May 24, 1993.  In his report, Dr. Fleming found the employee suffered cervical muscle spasms, without nerve root compression, and believed the employee was suffering depression
.  He recommended against surgery, but recommended vocational retraining.
  Despite Dr. Dapra’s recommendation, the employer provided medical benefits when Dr. Fleming performed posterior nerve root compression in Reno, Nevada on July 16, 1993,
 and continued to provide conservative care to the employee.  The employer accepted the compensability of the injury and began paying the employee temporary total disability (“TTD”) benefits at the rate of $645.21.  On March 30, 1994, the employee filed a Workers' Compensation Claim, requesting several categories of benefits.  On May 3, 1994, the employer filed its Answer, admitting its liability for TTD benefits, PPI benefits, and medical benefits.

At the employer’s suggestion, the employee attended a pain clinic at the Virginia Mason Clinic during February through March, under the care of Thomas Williamson-Kirkland, M.D.
  Dr. Williamson-Kirkland found the employee medically stable as on March 10, 1994, and rated him with a 28 percent whole-person permanent partial impairment (“PPI”) 
 under the American Medical Association Guides to the Rating of Permanent Impairment, 3rd Edition
 (“AMA Guides”), and recommended the employee enter a reemployment benefit program.
  The employee began to receive conservative care from Terry Nevins, D.O., in Elko, Nevada, in March 1994.  In a letter dated May 24, 1994 to Dr. Nevins, the employer’s attorney indicated Dr. Nevins would not receive payment of medical benefits for the employee, asserting the employee made an impermissible change of physician.
  The employee moved to Lincoln, Oregon in May 1994.  He sought conservative care in Lincoln from Marilyn Frazier, M.D.
 On November 3, 1994, the employer paid for the employee to return to see Dr. Fleming.  Dr. Fleming recommended the employee find a physician in Oregon to treat his chronic pain, and refused to prescribe medications out-of-state.

The Reemployment Benefits Administrator ("RBA") assigned rehabilitation specialist Jacqueline Christensen to evaluate the employee's eligibility for those benefits on November 15, 1993.  In her report of June 17, 1994, Ms. Christensen, reported the results of a number of tests she administered to the employee.  She found him to have a low dexterity score, which she felt corroborated his claims of numbness.  He scored above average in spatial, form, and clerical tasks; and low average in intellectual, verbal and numerical ability areas.  His vocabulary and reading comprehension were above the 12th grade level.
  Ms. Christensen identified possible training in repairs, plant operation, and apartment/motel maintenance.
  However, she believed that the employee needed additional recovery time before beginning a reemployment plan.  Because Alaska law did not, in her opinion, allow for such a delay, she recommended the parties settle his claims, allowing him to develop his own reemployment plan.
  At the request of the employer, rehabilitation specialist Edward Howden prepared a reemployment plan to train the employee as a Lab Technician (Metallurgical/Assay).  On December 5, 1994 the RBA denied the employer’s reemployment plan.

The employee discussed the settlement of his claims in a telephone conversation with the employer’s workers’ compensation insurance adjuster Linda Rudolph on May 26, 1994.
  The employee received a settlement offer letter from the employer, dated December 2, 1994.  In that letter, the employer offered to settle all the employee's claims except for future medical benefits for $25,000.00.
  The employee counter-offered $50,000.00.
  In a December 27, 1995 letter, the employer offered the employee a settlement proposal of $30,000.00, giving him until January 9, 2002 to respond.
  The employee accepted the offer, and signed the C&R.  We reviewed and approved the C&R on February 14, 1995.  The C&R provided, in part:

DISPUTE

There is a bonafide dispute among the parties.  It is the position of the employee that the reemployment plan developed in connection with his case is inappropriate in light of the fact that he no longer lives in Elko, Nevada.  Moreover, the employee argues that the jobs developed by the rehabilitation specialist are inappropriate considering his physical restrictions.  The employee also claims that because he has moved to Lincoln City, Oregon, he should be allowed to choose a new treating physician.

On the other hand, it is the position of the employer that the plans developed by the rehabilitation specialist in this case are appropriate and, as a matter of law, will return the employee to remunerative employability.  The employer contends that these jobs are physically appropriate as discussed by Dr. Williamson‑Kirkland in his reports.  Finally, the employer contends that the employee has had one (1) change of primary physician thus far in this claim.  Accordingly, the employer rejects the employee's contention that he should be allowed yet another change. Nonetheless, under the terms of this agreement, the employee will be allowed to make one (1) additional change of treating physician.

Under the circumstances the employee acknowledges that this settlement is in his best interest. The employee understands that under this settlement he is relinquishing his right to receive additional time‑loss benefits. Also, the employee acknowledges that he is relinquishing his right to receive further reemployment benefits. Nonetheless, the employee believes that he will be able to return to remunerative employment when he chooses to do so, the lump sum payable under the terms of this agreement far exceeds the employee’s remaining permanent partial impairment entitlement. The additional sum will allow the employee to pursue a reemployment plan of his own choosing. Considering the serious dispute over the reemployment issue and over the designation of now treating physician issue, the employee believes that this settlement is in his best interest.

COMPROMISE AND RELEASE

1 .

In order to resolve all disputes among the parties with respect to compensation rate, compensation for disability (whether the same be temporary total temporary partial, scheduled and unscheduled permanent partial, or permanent total), penalties, interest, or vocational rehabilitation / re‑employment benefits or AS 23,30.041(k) benefits, the employer will pay the employee the sum of $30,000.00.  Except as provided below, the employee agrees to accept this amount in full and final settlement and discharge of all obligations, payments, benefits and compensation which might be presently due or might become due to the employee at any time in the future under the Alaska Workers' Compensation Act.

2.

The parties agree that the employee's entitlement, if any, to future medical benefits under the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act is not waived by the terms of this Agreement and that the right of the employer to contest liability for future medical benefits is also not waived by the terms of this agreement. The employee shall be allowed one (1) additional change of treating physician on approval of this Agreement. . . . 

Approximately six years later, on May 29, 2001, the employee filed a workers' compensation claim, asserting inter alia the C&R should be overturned for fraud or misrepresentation, and he should be awarded permanent total disability (“PTD”) benefits or temporary partial disability (“TPD”) benefits.  The employee also filed a petition on May 7, 2002, demanding the employer release correspondence between the employer's workers' compensation adjuster and its attorney, release records of telephone calls between the employer's attorney and the employee related to the settlement, release certain medical records, and release of the insurer's withheld reserve work sheets and reserve information and serious loss reports.  

At a hearing on May 16, 2002, we denied the employee's petition to discover additional records, finding that these records were either privileged, already in the record, or not material.  At that hearing, the employee testified he had to pay for his own medical care after he stopped seeing Dr. Fleming.  The employee testified in a deposition that he had negotiated the settlement with the adjuster in 1994 and 1995, and had not spoken with the employer's attorney in relation to the possibility of settling his medical benefits since 2000,
 However, in the hearing he testified he had been confused in the deposition on that point.  In the hearing the employee testified the employer's attorney contacted him by telephone several times in 1994, and told him the Alaska claimants' attorneys had been driven out of business, and told him that if he did not sign the C&R he would not get benefits and would not be able to see a doctor.  He testified his doctors told him the employer’s attorney told them not to treat him.  The employee also testified the adjuster told him he would run out of compensation and would not be able to get medical benefits if he did not sign the C&R.  He testified she told him he did not need an attorney.  The employee testified he earned his G.E.D. in the military.  The employee testified he did not understand the terms of the C&R when he signed it.  He testified he did not realize he was giving up his bi-monthly compensation checks.  He testified he did not understand that the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board ("Board") was separate from the insurance company, and that he could have taken any disputes to the Board for decision. 

The employer's former adjuster, Linda Randolph, testified she discussed settlement with the employee on a number of occasions.  She does not recall the employer's attorney discussing the settlement with the employee in 1994 or 1995.  She denied telling the employee he should not get an attorney.  She believed the employee was attempting to make unauthorized changes of physician in 1994 and 1995, and that the disputes were in good faith.

At the hearing, the employee argued he did not have a full understanding of the C&R he signed in 1995.  He also argued he was coerced into signing the C&R by the employer's refusal to provide medical benefits, and by its assertion he was running out of compensation.  He argued he had very little bargaining power, and that the amount paid was unreasonably low.  He asserted he was lied to, threatened, discouraged, and prevented from obtaining counsel.  The employee argued the C&R must be voided under Witt v. Watkins.
  At the hearing, the employee also argued that, as a beneficiary of the workers' compensation policy, the insurer violated its fiduciary duty to him in compelling him to waive his rights in the settlement.  He cited no statutes or case law in support of this contention.  The employer argued that a C&R can only be set aside for fraud or duress.  The employer argued there is no evidence of fraud, duress, or even constructive fraud in this case.  It asserted the employee was receiving benefits throughout the settlement process, that the parties negotiated the settlement over a number of months.  It asserted the C&R plainly declared the disputes between the parties and the terms of settlement.  It asserts the records in the case reveal no misrepresentation.  It argues that, even if the employee misunderstood the settlement, that is not a legal basis to overturn it.  It argued the insurer's fiduciary duty is to the insured employer, not to the third party beneficiary employee.   

In our May 31, 2002 decision and order, AWCB Decision No. 02–0099, we found the disputes over reemployment benefits and over whether the employee had exceeded his permissible change of physicians were clearly identified in the C&R itself, as well as at other places in the record.  Despite the employee's assertion he did not understand the mechanism of pursuing his rights through filing a claim with the Board, the record reflected he had filed a claim before he negotiated the C&R.  We found the employee not credible, and we were not able to give substantial weight to his uncorroborated hearsay reports of threats and coercion.  We found the employee was receiving compensation throughout the settlement negotiation.  Based on our review of the record, we found no credible, specific evidence of misrepresentation or fraud or duress by the employer to coerce the employee to sign the C&R.   We found that the terms of the C&R were clear that all non-medical benefits were settled and waived.  We found insufficient evidence of fraud or duress by the employer to overturn the C&R.
  

The employee filed a petition for reconsideration on June 10, 2002, asserting we were mistaken in finding he provided no authority to support his claim of a fiduciary duty owed to him, citing several Alaska Supreme Court decisions regarding what constitutes breach of duty in a fiduciary relationship, and noted the adjuster admitted in her deposition that the employee was an insured beneficiary.  The employee also argued the adjuster failed to have the employee rated under the AMA Guides.  He argued we incorrectly concluded there was no specific evidence of fraud in the record.  He also argued we defined “duress’ too narrowly, noting the adjuster denied counseling and treatment by another physician.  He argued the adjuster perceived the employee to be in a weak medical and economic bargaining position.  In our June 18, 2002 decision and order, AWCB Decision No. 02-0108, we found the employee’s petition for reconsideration essentially reargued the hearing issues, and cited no evidence we failed to consider in our May 31, 2002 decision.  Nevertheless, the employee raised one legal issue we used our discretion to allow the parties to clarify: whether the employer’s insurance adjuster and the employer’s attorney owe the employee a fiduciary duty.
  We denied and dismissed all other issues raised in the employee’s petition for reconsideration.  We set the issue of fiduciary duty for oral argument by the parties on August 1, 2002. 

At the hearing on August 1, 2002, and in his brief, the employee argued the instant case is distinguishable from cases involving insurance liability because the employee is a "third party beneficiary," not a "third party claimant," again arguing the adjuster made an "admission by party-opponent" when she indicated the employee was a beneficiary in her deposition.  He argued that public policy dictates that a fiduciary or special relationship exists between an employer and an injured worker because workers' compensation is the workers' exclusive remedy.  He argued the employer's workers' compensation insurance policy shows the employee is covered and that there are no conflicting interests between the employer and employee.  He argued the employer breached its fiduciary or special duty to the employee when it misrepresented to him that he had used up his right to change physicians, when it chose the pain clinic and rating physician for him, when it failed to inform him he could get a second opinion concerning his impairment rating, when it required him to sign the C&R to obtain medical care, and when he mistakenly thought the insurer was the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board.  The employer submitted a copy of the relevant workers’ compensation insurance contract.   At the hearing and in its brief, the employer argued a series of insurance liability cases which held the fiduciary duty is limited to the insurer and the insured, and does not extend to a third party claimant, which has conflicting interests.  It argued the Alaska Workers' Compensation Act repeatedly refers to an insurer's coverage of an insured employer's liability under the Act.  It argued the employee is not a named party to the workers' compensation contract, and argued the contract and adversarial statutory scheme would not function if the insurer had a fiduciary duty to the conflicting interests of both the employer and employee.  

In our decision and order on August 1, 2002, AWCB Decision No. 02-0169, we found the contract for insurance coverage was between the employer and insurer, and that the employee was not a party to that contract.  We found the employee’s interest in his claim is clearly in conflict with the employer’s, and we found no basis for a fiduciary duty of the employer, the employer's insurer, the employer’s attorney, or the employer's insurance adjuster toward the employee.
  We found the employee has failed to prove by the preponderance of the evidence, much less by clear and convincing evidence, that the employer engaged in fraud or misrepresentation, or violated a fiduciary duty, in order to coerce the employee into signing the C&R.  We concluded the C&R, approved on February 14, 1995, could not be set aside.  We denied and dismissed the employee's petition for reconsideration.   The employee appealed our decisions to the Alaska Superior Court, raising the novel issue of whether the C&R should be set aside because the employee was not afforded his right to an SIME before we approved the settlement.  In his September 22, 2003 Amended Order on Remand,
 the Honorable Raymond Funk remanded the case to us to give the employee an opportunity “to raise claims on the issue of an SIME as it relates to the settlement agreement. . . .”  The Board Designee set this remanded issue for a hearing on April 8, 2004.

In the hearing on April 8, 2004, and in his brief, the employee argued that, at the time of the C&R, there were medical disputes between the employer’s physician, Dr. Dapra, and the employee’s physician, Dr. Fleming concerning treatment, physical capacity, and the employee’s ability to enter a reemployment plan.  He argued these disputes required us to inform the employee of his right to an SIME, and required us to order an SIME if the employee requested one, citing Dwight v. Humana Hospital
 (“Dwight”).  He asserted we failed to provide him with an opportunity for an SIME, he argued the C&R did not “conform to the provisions of this chapter,” as required by AS 23.30.012.  The employee also argued that he saw Dr. Fleming as a specialist on referral from Dr. Rich, and Dr. Fleming was not a change of physician, and he should have been permitted another choice of physician under the plain terms of AS 23.30.095(a).  Because the C&R endorsed the employer’s misinterpretation of AS 23.30.095(a), it does not comport with the provisions of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act.  The employee also seemed to argue that he was obviously entitled to permanent total disability (“PTD”) benefits.  He argued the C&R should be set aside, and we should order an SIME  The employer argued the employee should be barred under res judicata from attempting to raise the issue of the SIME after failing to raise the issue in the initial hearing for our final decision, and after our final decision.  The employer argued we did actually give the employee notice of his potential right to an SIME when we mailed him our information booklet, “Workers’ Compensation and You,” in the regular course of our operation.  The employer argued the employee waived any possible right to an SIME in the terms of the C&R.  The employer also argued that it was, at most, harmless error if the employee was not informed of the SIME process.

In AWCB Decision No. 04-0092 (April 23, 2004), we found the employee had been given written notice of his rights to an SIME under former AS 23.30.095(k).  We found no basis for an SIME in the actual disputes at the time of the C&R.  We found the parties decided to forego adversarial procedures, such as an SIME, under the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act.  We found we could not set aside a C&R based on the mistake or lack of understanding of one of the parties.  We noted our earlier finding of no fraud or duress by the employer in this case.  We found no basis to overturn the C&R.  We again denied the employee’s request that we set aside his C&R 

The employee filed a petition for reconsideration on May 5, 2004,
 asserting we made a number of errors in our decision.  He contended we did not follow our regulations because we did not decide the court’s remanded issue in the way he argued we should characterize it.  He specifically contended that we did not decide whether we proceeded in the manner required by law regarding the C&R; that we did not decide whether we failed in our mandatory duty under AS 23.30.095(k); that we did not decide whether we violated the Alaska Supreme Court’s ruling in Dwight, that we did not decide whether we lacked the authority to approve the C&R under AS 23.30.012 (apparently based on the employee’s assertion the terms of the C&R did not conform to the provisions of the Act), and that we did not decide whether the employee’s case was likely to involve permanent disability.  The employee also argued we failed to make a finding that the settlement was in the employee’s best interest, thus violating the Alaska Supreme Court’s ruling in Kaiser v. Royal Insurance Co.
 (“Kaiser”).  The employee argued the employer committed constructive fraud against him in the negotiation of the C&R, and committed fraud on the Board.  The employee asserted “there is no dispute” the employer violated 3 AAC 26.100, and he argued the employer breached it’s fiduciary duty.

In the May 24, 2004 decision, the Board concluded, in part:

The employee now raises another argument, asserting that the employer committed “constructive” fraud in obtaining the C&R, and committed fraud on the Board.  We have re-examined the record in this case, we find no evidence of fraud toward the employee,
 fraud upon the Board,
 or constructive fraud.
  Because there was no basis for an SIME concerning the issues in dispute at the time of the C&R, we find the procedural rights at AS 23.30.095(k) were irrelevant to the employee’s decision to initiate settlement or to sign the C&R.  For the same reason, we also find AS 23.30.095(k) is irrelevant to our approval of the C&R.  We specifically find the employer did not commit constructive fraud concerning the SIME process in its response to the employee’s claim, or in negotiating the C&R.  We find no fraud on the Board.
. . . .

We find no basis on which to reconsider our April 23, 2004 decision on remand, we will deny the employee’s Petition to Reconsider.  Because we can find no fraud or duress in this case; because we can find no basis for an SIME in the disputes cited in the C&R; and because parties decided to forego adversarial procedures, such as an SIME, under the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act, we can find no basis to overturn the C&R.  We will reaffirm our final decision and order, AWCB Decision No. 02-0099 (May 31, 2002), in which we denied the employee’s claim requesting us to set aside his C&R.

AWCB Decision No. 02-0099 (May 31, 2002) was appealed, ultimately to the Alaska Supreme Court.  In Seybert v. Cominco Alaska Exploration,
 the Court held:  

B. Alaska National Had No Fiduciary Relationship with Seybert.
. . . .

The board correctly determined here that because the Alaska Workers' Compensation Act creates an adversarial system, and because Seybert's and Alaska National's interests were in conflict, there was no basis for a fiduciary relationship between Seybert and Alaska National. Although 3 AAC 26.100 imposes some duties on a workers' compensation insurer, it does not impose a fiduciary relationship. The regulation requires an insurer to provide a claimant with "assistance that is reasonable" so an unrepresented claimant can "comply with the law and reasonable claims handling requirements." It also prohibits an insurer from requiring a claimant to "travel unreasonably for medical care, rehabilitation services, or any other purpose." [FN26] These requirements do not impose duties of loyalty and the disavowal of self-interest that are hallmarks of a fiduciary's role. [footnotes omitted] 

. . . .

D. The Board Used an Incorrect Legal Standard in Evaluating Seybert's Misrepresentation Claim.

The central issue in Seybert's appeal is his assertion that the board erred in evaluating his claim that the C & R should be set aside because of fraud, misrepresentation, or duress. Seybert outlines the legal standards from our cases about contract formation to argue that the board erred in determining that there was no evidence of fraud or misrepresentation. He asserts that even if some of Rudolph's statements were non-fraudulent misrepresentations, her statements were nonetheless material misrepresentations, that he justifiably relied on them, and that as a result, the C & R should be set aside. Alaska National contends that the legal standard for fraud that the board used is "virtually identical" to the elements set out in Industrial Commercial Electric, Inc. v. McLees for voiding a contract for fraud. [FN41]
FN41. Indus. Commercial Elec., Inc. v. McLees, 101 P.3d 593 (Alaska 2004).


The board applied the following standard in evaluating Seybert's assertion that Alaska National had committed fraud in negotiating the contract: "We have determined 'fraud' in the context of a C & R to be intentional misrepresentation, which induces the employee to sign the C & R in reliance on that misrepresentation." It found "no credible, specific evidence of misrepresentation or fraud or duress by the employer to coerce [Seybert] to sign the C & R." The board made no other specific findings related to Seybert's fraud claim and did not articulate or apply a separate standard for misrepresentation. Because the board looked at whether there was an intentional misrepresentation in its definition of fraud, we assume that the board analyzed any claim of misrepresentation as part of Seybert's fraud claim.

We have previously determined that a workers' compensation C&R is a contract and is subject to interpretation as any other contract. [FN42] Standards of contract formation from our common law therefore apply to formation and rescission of workers' compensation settlement contracts to the extent these standards are not overridden by statute. [FN43] Thus, even though a personal injury settlement agreement may be set aside for mistake, [FN44] we have held that the workers' compensation act does not permit avoidance of a settlement contract based on mistakes of fact. [FN45] We have also held, however, that the board can set aside a settlement agreement based on fraud, [FN46] and the board has interpreted the Alaska Workers' Compensation Act as giving it the authority to set aside a settlement agreement on other bases as well. [FN47] Alaska National does not challenge the board's authority to set aside a C & R because of constructive fraud, duress, or misrepresentation; it argues only that the board correctly found that there was no evidence of any wrongful behavior by Alaska National.

FN42. Williams v. Abood, 53 P.3d 134, 139 (Alaska 2002)
FN43. See Walton v. Ramos Aasand & Co.,

HYPERLINK "http://creditcard.westlaw.com/find/default.wl?DB=661&SerialNum=1998175902&FindType=Y&ReferencePositionType=S&ReferencePosition=1045&AP=&RS=WEBL8.07&VR=2.0&SP=AKCS-1000" \t "_new" 963 P.2d 1042, 1045 (Alaska 1998) (holding that basic contract-law principles of contract formation apply to settlement agreements); Olsen Logging Co. v. Lawson, 856 P.2d 1155, 1158-59 (Alaska 1993) (holding that AS 23.30.012 prohibits setting aside workers' compensation C & R based on mistake).

FN44. Witt v. Watkins, 579 P.2d 1065, 1067 (Alaska 1978)
FN45. Olsen Logging Co., 856 P.2d at 1158-59.

FN46. Blanas v. Brower Co., 938 P.2d 1056, 1061-62 (Alaska 1997).

FN47.Smith v. Commonwealth Elec. Co., AWCB Decision No. 94-0141(June 16, 1994).

In order to sue in tort for damages related to misrepresentation, an injured party must establish the elements of fraudulent misrepresentation. [FN48] For purposes of avoiding or reforming a contract, however, a misrepresentation need not be fraudulent; it need only be material. [FN49] As we said in McLees, "Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 164 (1981) states that a contract is voidable '[i]f a party's manifestation of assent is induced by either a fraudulent or a material misrepresentation by the other party upon which the recipient is justified in relying.' " [FN50] The standard the board used to evaluate Seybert's claim of misrepresentation therefore differed in one significant way from that discussed in McLees: the board only looked to see if there was an intentional misrepresentation, not a material misrepresentation. [FN51] In order to avoid a contract based on a misrepresentation, the party seeking to avoid the contract must show (1) a misrepresentation; (2) which was fraudulent or material; (3) which induced the party to enter the contract; (4) upon which the party was justified in relying. [FN52]
FN48. See Thomson v. Wheeler Constr. Co.,

HYPERLINK "http://creditcard.westlaw.com/find/default.wl?DB=661&SerialNum=1963124524&FindType=Y&ReferencePositionType=S&ReferencePosition=113&AP=&RS=WEBL8.07&VR=2.0&SP=AKCS-1000" \t "_new" 385 P.2d 111, 113 (Alaska 1963) (noting that defrauded party to contract has option of seeking damages based on fraudulent misrepresentation); see also JOSEPH M. PERILLO, 7 CORBIN ON CONTRACTS § 28.13, at 71-72 (rev. ed.2002); compare Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 164 (1981) with Restatement (Second) of Torts §§ 525, 526, 538 (1977). The elements of fraudulent misrepresentation include a false representation of fact, scienter, intention to induce reliance, justifiable reliance, and damages. Barber v. Nat'l Bank of Alaska, 815 P.2d 857, 862 (Alaska 1991) (citing Restatement (Second) of Torts § 525 (1976) ).

FN49. McLees, 101 P.3d at 598 (citing Cousineau v. Walker, 613 P.2d 608, 612 (Alaska 1980)).

FN50. Id.
FN51. The board may also have required Seybert to show coercion as part of his misrepresentation and fraud claims, because its finding states, "[W]e find no credible, specific evidence of misrepresentation or fraud or duress by the employer to coerce the employee to sign the C & R." Coercion is not an element of fraud or misrepresentation, only duress. Barber, 815 P.2d at 862; Helstrom v. N. Slope Borough, 797 P.2d 1192, 1197 (Alaska 1990) (setting out elements of duress).

FN52. Bering Straits Native Corp. v. Birklid, 739 P.2d 767, 768 (Alaska 1987) (citing Johnson v. Curran, 633 P.2d 994, 997 (Alaska 1981)).


Although we agree that substantial evidence supports the board's finding that there was no intentional misrepresentation, it was error to consider only whether there was a fraudulent misrepresentation, and we cannot say that the error was harmless. There are at least two ways in which Rudolph's December 2, 1994 letter could have been materially misleading.


First, Rudolph stated, "At this point in your claim, there are three remaining benefits available." She then identified three "areas" of benefits: reemployment benefits, permanent partial impairment benefits, and medical benefits. From this statement Seybert could infer that he was potentially eligible for only these three benefits and no others, i.e., that no others were "remaining." [FN53] Rudolph did not tell Seybert that the disability benefits available to him, and which he would be waiving, could include PTD benefits, even though she knew as of September 26, 1994, that Seybert had been found eligible for SSDI benefits. [FN54] Counsel for Alaska National conceded at oral argument before us that Seybert's receipt of SSDI benefits could support the notion that Seybert might have been eligible for PTD benefits. Seybert argues that Rudolph's failure to mention subsection .041(k) benefits as part of the available reemployment benefits was also a material misrepresentation. The settlement waived entitlement to subsection . 041(k) benefits; those benefits were not discussed with Seybert before settlement. Rudolph had calculated six weeks before she wrote Seybert that those benefits were worth approximately $25,000 for one year. [FN55] The board could therefore reasonably find that Rudolph's statement about the benefits remaining in Seybert's claim was not in accord with the facts she knew of his case. [FN56]
FN53. See Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 159 cmt. a (1981) (noting that meaning of statement depends on all the circumstances, including what may fairly be inferred from them).

FN54. To be found eligible for social security disability benefits, a claimant must show that based on his functional limitations, age, education, and past work history, he is unable to engage in substantial gainful work that exists in the national economy. 42 U.S.C. § 423(d)(2)(A) (2004).

FN55. A worker can receive subsection .041(k) benefits for up to two years from the date of plan approval. AS 23.30.041(k).

FN56. See Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 159 (1981).

Second, Rudolph's statement in the letter concerning Seybert's right to change physicians is potentially materially misleading. Her December 2, 1994 letter acknowledged that Seybert was "entitled to further medical care as the result of [his] injury." It then stated, "Because of your recent move to Oregon, and as a term of our settlement proposal, we will agree to allow you to select a new physician in your local area and we will then be responsible for further medical care in accordance with the Alaska Workers' Compensation statutes." But this letter is unclear as to whether Alaska National acknowledged that Seybert had a right to a new physician because of his move to Oregon or Dr. Fleming's refusal to treat him, both of which events were independent of the settlement agreement. [FN57] And the December 27 letter implied that Alaska National's willingness to allow him to see a new physician depended on whether he settled his claims.

FN57. Rudolph's notes show that Dr. Fleming's office felt in March 1994 that there was nothing her office could do for Seybert because his problems were not neurosurgical. Dr. Fleming also clearly stated in her November 3, 1994 letter to Alaska National that she would not prescribe medication for Seybert because of his move to Oregon and that it was not in his interest to have her treat him because of the distance between his new home and Reno. The record does not explain why Alaska National paid for Seybert to visit Dr. Fleming in November 1994.


Seybert's arguments concerning the change of physicians focus on his contention that his treatment by Dr. Fleming was a referral within the meaning of AS 23.30.095(a). [FN58] The board did not discuss in detail Seybert's contention that the change in physicians from Dr. Rich to Dr. Fleming was a "referral" permitted by AS 23.30.095(a); it simply stated in its summary of the case that Dr. Rich referred Seybert to Dr. Fleming for a second opinion. The board may also consider on remand whether Seybert came under Dr. Fleming's care because of a referral. Depending on whether there was a referral, Rudolph's statements that Seybert had used his statutorily permitted change in physicians could have been materially misleading. In addition, the board should consider whether Seybert had a right, not subject to Alaska National's permission, to change physicians when the C & R was negotiated by virtue of either his move to Oregon or Dr. Fleming's refusal to treat him further. [FN59]
FN58. AS 23.30.095(a) provides, in part: When medical care is required, the injured employee may designate a licensed physician to provide all medical and related benefits. The employee may not make more than one change in the employee's choice of attending physician without the written consent of the employer. Referral to a specialist by the employee's attending physician is not considered a change in physicians.

FN59. See Bloom v. Tekton, Inc.,

HYPERLINK "http://creditcard.westlaw.com/find/default.wl?DB=4645&SerialNum=2000438190&FindType=Y&ReferencePositionType=S&ReferencePosition=239&AP=&RS=WEBL8.07&VR=2.0&SP=AKCS-1000" \t "_new" 5 P.3d 235, 239 (Alaska 2000) (noting that when worker's attending physician becomes unwilling or unable to continue care, concerns over doctor shopping cannot override statute's primary purpose of allowing injured workers to choose their attending physicians); see also Clymer v. Wilton Adjustment Servs., AWCB Decision No. 95-0068 (March 19, 1995); Williams v. Cal Worthington Ford, AWCB Decision No. 93-0254 (Oct. 13, 1993).


Because the question whether a misrepresentation is material is a mixed question of law and fact, [FN60] we must remand so the board can determine whether any of Rudolph's or Alaska National's statements were material misrepresentations. We also remand for consideration of the other elements of misrepresentation. [FN61] On remand, the board must consider whether any misrepresentation was an inducing cause--whether Seybert manifested his assent to the contract in reliance on them [FN62]--and whether Seybert was justified in relying on any misrepresentation. As to this latter issue, the board may need to consider whether the representations were statements of opinion and, if they were, whether Seybert reasonably believed that Rudolph had special skill or judgment with respect to the subject matter. [FN63]
FN60. Diblik v. Marcy, 166 P.3d 23, 25 (Alaska 2007) (citing Cousineau, 613 P.2d at 613).
FN61. Seybert also argues that Alaska National's actions constituted constructive fraud, but the issue of constructive fraud in his case is encompassed in our ruling on the material misrepresentation issue. See Adams v. Adams,

HYPERLINK "http://creditcard.westlaw.com/find/default.wl?DB=4645&SerialNum=2004364153&FindType=Y&ReferencePositionType=S&ReferencePosition=750&AP=&RS=WEBL8.07&VR=2.0&SP=AKCS-1000" \t "_new" 89 P.3d 743, 750 (Alaska 2004) (comparing constructive fraud to misrepresentation).

FN62. Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 167 (1981).

FN63. Id. §§ 168-70.


Underlying the evaluation of Seybert's misrepresentation and fraud claims is the issue of what duty a workers' compensation insurance adjuster owes to an unrepresented claimant. Although we decide here that there is no fiduciary duty, the board may consider on remand what duty the adjuster does owe. Under certain circumstances non-disclosure of a fact can be equivalent to an assertion, and according to the Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 161(b), failure to act in good faith and in accordance with reasonable standards of fair dealing can be relevant in determining when non-disclosure of a fact is equivalent to an assertion. [FN64] Counsel for Alaska National stated at oral argument on appeal that an insurance adjuster has the duty to be honest with an unrepresented workers' compensation claimant, but insisted that Rudolph did not need to "put all [her] cards on the table" as a negotiating strategy. In workers' compensation, where there are complex rules that can carry significant consequences, it is hard to ignore the disparity in information and knowledge that an experienced insurance adjuster may possess compared with an unrepresented claimant. Because knowledge of the business practices of workers' compensation insurers is an area within the board's special expertise, the board should consider this question on remand. The issue of what the insurer's duties are to an unrepresented claimant may also be relevant in assessing whether Seybert was justified in relying on any misrepresentations Rudolph made. [FN65]
FN64. Id. § 161(b); see also id. § 161 cmt. d (noting that party is expected to act in accordance with reasonable standards of fair dealing, as reflected in prevailing business ethics).

FN65. Id. §§ 169-70.


 . . . . We are also unpersuaded by Seybert's argument that the use of the term "primary physician" in the settlement agreement was ambiguous and misleading. In the settlement agreement Alaska National stated that Dr. Williamson-Kirkland was the "primary physician in connection with Mr. Seybert's pain clinic." This is an accurate statement. The agreement also said, "[T]he employer contends that the employee has had one (1) change of primary physician thus far in this claim.... [T]he employee will be allowed to make one (1) additional change of treating physician." Although the use of the terms "primary" and "treating" is inconsistent, it was not materially misleading. [FN71]
FN70. Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 80 (1981).

FN71. Seybert argues separately that the C&R terms related to medical care were unconscionable. We do not need to decide this issue because of our decision on his misrepresentation claim.

IV. ALASKA NATIONAL'S CROSS-APPEAL

Alaska National cross-appeals the superior court's order remanding Seybert's case to the board while the superior court appeal was pending so the board could decide Seybert's claims "on the issue of a SIME as it relates to the settlement agreement." The superior court stayed the appeal during the remand to the board. Alaska National contends that remanding the case while the appeal was pending violates principles of claim splitting or res judicata and that the superior court therefore abused its discretion in remanding the case. Seybert counters that a remand to the board was within the power of the superior court under the appellate rules, as well as the Administrative Procedure Act, and that even if the superior court erred by remanding, the error was harmless.
[34][35][36] Alaska National's claim that res judicata barred the superior court from remanding Seybert's case to the board fails because all of the proceedings were part of the same action. Although res judicata applies to workers' compensation proceedings, the doctrine is not applied as rigidly in administrative proceedings as it is in judicial proceedings. [FN76] Res judicata applies to subsequent lawsuits to bar re-litigation of issues that could have been raised in a prior lawsuit. [FN77] Because the remand in Seybert's case was in the middle of the appeal of the decision, it was not a subsequent lawsuit. The cases on which Alaska National relies deal with litigation that ended in a final judgment, followed by a second lawsuit or administrative action based on the same set of facts as the first litigation. [FN78] None of the cases deals with a request for remand to an administrative agency during the course of an appeal to the superior court.

FN76. Robertson v. Am. Mech., Inc., 54 P.3d 777, 779-80 (Alaska 2002) (citing McKean v. Municipality of Anchorage, 783 P.2d 1169, 1171 (Alaska 1989)).

FN77. See State, Commercial Fisheries Entry Comm'n v. Carlson,

HYPERLINK "http://creditcard.westlaw.com/find/default.wl?DB=4645&SerialNum=2003217995&FindType=Y&ReferencePositionType=S&ReferencePosition=874&AP=&RS=WEBL8.07&VR=2.0&SP=AKCS-1000" \t "_new" 65 P.3d 851, 874 (Alaska 2003).

FN78. Robertson, 54 P.3d at 780 (worker's second compensation claim barred by res judicata because both claims had same core set of facts); DeNardo v. State, 740 P.2d 453, 454-55, 457 (Alaska 1987) (second lawsuit against state barred by res judicata); Calhoun v. Greening, 636 P.2d 69, 72 (Alaska 1981) (res judicata barred second motion for relief from judgment when first motion for relief from judgment was denied and no appeal was taken).


Appellate Rule 520(c) gives an appellate court discretion to "require such further proceedings to be had as may be just under the circumstances." [FN79] Alaska Statute 44.62.570 also gives the superior court the authority to supplement the agency record on appeal or remand a case to an administrative agency. [FN80] Here, Seybert presented some evidence at his first hearing that no one had informed him of his right to request an SIME, although he did not make an explicit legal argument related to the SIME issue at the first hearing. [FN81] In remanding the case to the board, the superior court ensured that both parties could present evidence to support their arguments and rebut the other party's arguments. It was within the power of the superior court to remand the case to the board for this purpose.

FN79. Alaska R.App. P. 520(c).

FN80. AS 44.62.570(d).

FN81. He argued that he "did not fully know what his rights were" when he signed the C & R.

. . . .

V. CONCLUSION

Because the board used a standard that was too restrictive to determine whether the C&R should be set aside on Seybert's misrepresentation theory, we REVERSE the board's order denying his petition and REMAND to the board for further proceedings consistent with this opinion. We AFFIRM the superior court's decision to remand the case to the board for further proceedings while the appeal was pending.

The case returned to the Board on remand, in accord with the Supreme Court decision.  The employer filed a Petition to Compel Discovery and a Petition to Determine Law of the Case, which were heard by the Board on January 14, 2010.  At the opening of the hearing on January 14, 2010, the employer objected that it had been informed another hearing officer would be chairing the panel.
  The employer orally petitioned for the panel Chairman to recuse himself based on a Complaint to the Chief Administrative Law Judge.
  The employer did not elaborate on the request or offer additional argument.  The employee did not object to the panel Chairman.

The issues set for hearing in the controlling Prehearing Conference Summary
 were those from the employer’ Petition to Compel Discovery and a Petition to Determine Law of the Case.
  Nevertheless, the Board exercised its discretion to consider the employer’s request for recusal as a preliminary matter, and issued an oral order.
  

In the hearing, the panel Chairman indicated a Complaint investigation is a confidential inquisitional process.  He indicated he would not be privy to details of the Attorney General investigation’s status, but did not believe there had been any report or response from the Attorney General.  He indicated he harbored no interest in the case, bias or prejudgment against the parties.  He indicated the request for recusal must be considered in light of the Alaska Supreme Court ruling in AT&T Alascom v. Orchitt,
 and the applicable statutes and regulations.
  The Court in Orchitt indicated administrative agency personnel are presumed to be honest and impartial until a party shows actual bias or prejudgment.  He indicated he did not find any evidence of actual or probable bias or prejudgment in the instant case, and declined to recuse himself.  Following a separate closed deliberation, 
 the other two members of the hearing panel indicated they found no evidence of bias or prejudgment of the instant case by the panel Chairman, and found no basis for recusal.   The parties proceeded to argue the employer’s Petition to Compel Discovery and Petition to Determine Law of the Case.  No witnesses testified in the hearing.


ISSUES
The employer contends the employee’s answers to the Interrogatories requesting the factual basis for his material misrepresentation claim are evasive and incomplete, only quoting prior deposition and hearing testimony.  The employer also contends the materials quoted by the employee are too broad to determine the specific actions or communications the employee deems misrepresentations.  The employer contends the questions are directly relevant to the matter remanded by the Court, and the employee should be compelled to provide clear and responsive answers.  

The employee contends his responses to the Interrogatories are true, responsive and complete.  He contends the employer is impermissibly seeking his attorney’s work-product, legal interpretation of facts in the hearing record, and attorney-client communication.  He also contends the Interrogatories are partially irrelevant, seeking interpretation of what in the record may have represented material misrepresentation; a matter committed to the Board’s interpretation by the Court.  He contends the Board should issue a protective order against requests for additional responses to the Interrogatories.

The employer additionally contends the employee should be barred from additional litigation concerning six categories of issues established by the doctrine of the Law of the Case: 1) The employee is not a credible witness;  2) There was no fraud in connection with the settlement negotiations; 3) There was no duress involved with the settlement negotiations; 4) There were no intentional misrepresentations by the employer in connection with the settlement negotiations; 5) The employee was provided with a copy of the Board’s pamphlet, “Workers’ Compensation and You;” 6) There is no fiduciary duty running between the employer and the employee.

The employee contends the Court remanded the issue of possible material misrepresentation to the Board, and determining credibility of all evidence related to that issue is part of the scope of that remand.  He contends the Court held the Board used the wrong standard for the issue of duress, specifically retained jurisdiction to consider that issue in the future, and the facts surrounding the issue of duress are relevant to the remanded question of material misrepresentation.  Although the employee agreed the court found no fiduciary duty to the employee, he contends the court clearly indicated the disparity of knowledge and experience between the parties must be considered in the remand.

1.
Should we order the employee to provide additional, clear and responsive answers to the employer’s Interrogatories?

2.
Are the six issues cited by the employer’s Petition settled by the Law of the Case doctrine?

FINDINGS OF FACT

Based on the preponderance of the evidence
 available in the record, the Board finds:

1.
The employer submitted to the employee Interrogatories and Requests for Production dated March 12, 2009, requesting the factual basis for the employee’s claim of material misrepresentation in relation to his C&R.

2. 
The employee responded to the employer with Claimant Seybert’s Answers to Employer / Insurer’s Third Set of Interrogatories, dated June 22, 2009, Claimant Seybert’s Responses to Employer / Insurer’s Third Requests for Production, dated June 22, 2009, and Attorney’s Supplemental Objections to Employer / Insurer’s Third Set of Interrogatories, dated July 13, 2009.

3.
In the employee’s answers and objections to the Interrogatories, the employee provided approximately 20 pages of factual incidents, correspondence, and quotations from depositions and hearing testimony, and stated his understanding of how these applied to the remanded issue.  He objected to the Interrogatories as seeking his attorney’s work-product and legal interpretation, as well as privileged communications.

4.
The employer filed a Petition to Compel Discovery dated July 30, 2009.

5.
The employee filed Seybert’s Opposition to Cominco’s Petition to Compel Additional Answers to Interrogatories; and Seybert’s Cross-Petition for Protective Order, dated August 28, 2009.  In the Opposition the employee asserted his responses to the Interrogatories were true, responsive and complete, identifying approximately 20 pages of factual incidents, correspondence, and hearing and deposition testimony relevant to the Court’s remand; objected the employer is impermissibly seeking his attorney’s work-product, legal interpretation of facts in the hearing record, and privileged communications.
  He asserted the Interrogatories are largely irrelevant, seeking interpretation of whether what the adjuster said or did was materially misleading in light of what she knew at the time: a matter committed to the Board’s interpretation by the Court.
  He requested the Board to issue a protective order against requests for additional responses to the Interrogatories.

6.
The employer filed a Reply to Seybert’s Opposition to Motion to Compel and Response to Cross-Petition for Protective Order, dated September 21, 2009.
  In the Reply, the employer asserted the employee’s answers were evasive and non-reponsive, and the Interrogatories were directly relevant, seeking the factual basis for the employee’s claim concerning material misrepresentation, but not seeking attorney-client communications or attorney work-product.
  It asserted the protective order should be denied.

7.
The employer filed a Petition to Determine Law of the Case, together with a Memorandum in Support of Petition, both dated November 2, 2009.
  In the Memorandum the employer asserted six issues had been established by the Supreme Court decision as the law of the case.
  It asserted the doctrine of the Law of the Case prohibited the employee from re-litigating these issues.
  These six issues are: 1) The employee is not a credible witness;  2) There was no fraud in connection with the settlement negotiations; 3) There was no duress involved with the settlement negotiations; 4) There were no intentional misrepresentations by the employer in connection with the settlement negotiations; 5) The employee was provided with a copy of the Board’s pamphlet, “Workers’ Compensation and You;” 6) There is no fiduciary duty running between the employer and the employee.

8.
The employee filed Seybert’s Opposition to Cominco’s Petition for Law of the Case, dated December 18, 2009.
  In the Opposition, the employee asserted the Court specifically remanded the issue of possible material misrepresentation to the Board, and determining credibility of all evidence related to that issue is part of the scope of the remand and cannot be barred by the doctrine of law of the case.
  He asserted the Court noted the Board used the wrong standard for the issue of duress and specifically retained jurisdiction to consider that issue in the future, and also asserted the facts surrounding the issue of duress are relevant to the remanded question of material misrepresentation.
  The employee agreed he is not asserting fraud or intentional misrepresentation, or that the employee did not receive the Board pamphlet.
  Although the employee agreed the court found no fiduciary duty to the employee, he asserted the Court specifically required the Board to consider the disparity of knowledge and experience between the parties in relation to the remanded issue.

PRINCIPLES OF LAW

DISCOVERY BY INTERROGATORIES

AS 23.30.107 provides, in part:  

Upon request, the employee shall provide written authority to the employer . . . to obtain medical and rehabilitation information relative to the employee's injury. . . .  

AS 23.30.108(c) provides:

At a prehearing on discovery matters conducted by the board’s designee, the board’s designee shall direct parties to sign releases or produce documents, or both, if the parties present releases or documents that are likely to lead to admissible evidence relative to an employee’s injury.  If a party refuses to comply with an order by the board’s designee or the board concerning discovery matters, the board may impose appropriate sanctions in addition to any forfeiture of benefits, including dismissing the party’s claim, petition, or defense….

AS 23.30.115(a) provides, in part, 

… [T]he testimony of a witness may be taken by deposition or interrogatories according to the Rules of Civil Procedure.

Alaska Civil Rule 33(b)(1) provides:

Each interrogatory shall be answered separately and fully in writing under oath, unless it is objected to, in which event the objecting party shall state the reasons for objection and shall answer to the extent the interrogatory is not objectionable.

Under AS 23.30.107(a), the employee must release all evidence “relative” to the injury.  Regarding the discovery process generally, the Alaska Supreme Court encourages "liberal and wide‑ranging discovery under the Rules of Civil Procedure."
  Under AS 23.30.108(c), the Board has specific authority to order compliance with discovery, and to order sanctions for the refusal to comply with discovery orders by the Board or Board Designee.  In extreme cases, the Board has long exercised the authority to dismiss claims if an employee willfully obstructs discovery.
  However, in Erpelding v. AWCB, R&M Consultants, Inc., et al.,
 the Alaska Superior Court reversed and remanded the Board’s dismissal of a claim for failure to make findings that a lesser sanction could not adequately protect the parties and deter discovery violations.
  On the other hand, the Board excludes cumulative, repetitious, irrelevant, or non-material evidence from the record.
  The Board also refuses to order discovery that will not assist us in ascertaining the rights of the parties, or in the resolution of the claim.
  

Under AS 23.30.108(c), the Board Designee to has the responsibility to decide all discovery issues at the prehearing conference level.
  AS 23.30.108 was enacted by the Alaska Legislature in 2000.  There is only limited legislative history concerning this subsection.  However, in Hearings on H.B. 419 Before the House Labor and Commerce Committee, 21st Legis. (2000),
 in response to Vice Chairman Andrew Halcro’s request, the Workers' Compensation Division Director explained the bill would “… establish a simple summary process for employees [sic] to obtain medical releases.”
  Based on this limited history, the Board finds the legislature intended precisely what the plain wording of the statute requires: to provide a simple, summary process for discovery decisions at the prehearing level, with an “abuse of discretion” standard review by the Board, in light of the evidence available during the prehearing.

AS 23.30.135(a) provides in relevant part:

In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided by this chapter. The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct is hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties.

If a party demonstrates that informal means of developing medical evidence have failed, the Board “will consider the relevance of the requested information and the method of discovery to be authorized.”
  If an employee unreasonably refuses to release information, AS 23.30.135 and AS 23.30.108(c) grant the Board broad discretionary authority to make orders that will assure that parties obtain the relevant evidence necessary to litigate or resolve their claims.
  

LAW OF THE CASE

In Wolff v. Arctic Bowl, Inc.,
 the Alaska Supreme court held:

The doctrine of the Law of the Case prohibits the reconsideration of issues that have been adjudicated in a previous appeal in the same case….  Even issues not explicitly discussed in the first appellate opinion, but directly involved with or “necessarily inhering” in the decision will be considered the law of the case.
 

In Dierringer, Jr. v. Martin,
 the Alaska Supreme court held:

The Law of the case is both a doctrine of economy and of obedience to judicial hierarchy.  The doctrine applies to all previously litigated issues unless there are “ exceptional circumstances presenting a clear error constituting manifest injustice.”
 

In Beal v. Beal,
 the Alaska Supreme court held:

The law of the case doctrine, which is “grounded in the principle of stare decisis” and “akin to the doctrine of res judicata,” generally “prohibits the reconsideration of issues which have been adjudicated in a previous appeal in the same case.” Previous decisions on such issues - even questionable decisions - become the “law of the case” and should not be reconsidered on remand or in a subsequent appeal except “where there exist ‘exceptional circumstances' presenting a ‘clear error constituting a manifest injustice.”
 

AS 23.30.122 Credibility of Witnesses, provides, in part:

The board has the sole power to determine the credibility of a witness.  A finding by the board concerning the weight to be accorded a witness’s testimony, including medical testimony and reports, is conclusive even if the evidence is conflicting or susceptible to contrary conclusions....

ANALYSIS

DISCOVERY BY INTERROGATORIES

In the instant case, the discovery dispute did come before the Board Designee in a prehearing conference, but the Board Designee made no ruling on the dispute and instead set the matter for hearing before the Board.  Although the Board interprets the legislative intent and the language of AS 23.30.108 to indicate this dispute should have been resolved in a prehearing, the Board recognizes that AS 23.30.135 allows the Board broad procedural authority, and responsibility, to conduct its proceedings so as to “best ascertain the rights of the parties.”
  Accordingly, rather than remand this matter to the Board Designee, out of concern for judicial economy and in the interest of fostering a speedy resolution of the claim, the Board will decide this discovery dispute directly. 

Under AS 23.30.115(a) refers to the Alaska Rules of Civil Procedure to provide standards governing the use of interrogatories in Board proceedings.  Alaska Civil Rule 33(b)(1) provides responses to interrogatories must be answered fully, to the extent not objectionable.  The employer’s Interrogatories requested the employee to provide the factual basis for his material misrepresentation claim.  The Board finds the employee’s answers provided approximately 20 pages of factual incidents, correspondence, and hearing and deposition testimony, and stated his understanding of how these were relevant to the Court’s remand.  Based on the available record, the Board finds the employee cited specific facts from the record which he contends are the basis of his claim, and that these answers were responsive and accurate.  The Board finds no evidence the answers were not complete, considering the knowledge of the employee.  

LAW OF THE CASE

In Wolff v. Arctic Bowl, Inc.,
 the Alaska Supreme court held the doctrine of the law of the case prohibits the reconsideration of issues: 

(1) decided in an appeal decision, 

(2) in the same case, 

(3) also including issues not explicitly addressed but directly involved with or “necessarily inhering” in the appellate decision. 

In Dierringer, Jr. v. Martin,
 and Beal v. Beal,
 the Court held the law of the case applies to all issues decided on appeal unless there are:

(1) exceptional circumstances, 

(2) presenting a clear error, 

(3) constituting manifest injustice.

In the Petition to Determine Law of the Case and its Memorandum, the employer asserted six issues are barred by the doctrine: 1) the employee is not a credible witness,  2) there was no fraud in connection with the settlement negotiations, 3) there was no duress involved with the settlement negotiations, 4) there were no intentional misrepresentations by the employer in connection with the settlement negotiations, 5) the employee was provided with a copy of the Board’s pamphlet, “Workers’ Compensation and You,” and 6) there is no fiduciary duty running between the employer and the employee.

In the governing appellate decision by the Alaska Supreme Court, the Court affirmed there was no fraud or duress in connection with the settlement negotiation, on which the C&R could be overturned.  The Court additionally decided there is no fiduciary duty of the insurer toward the employee.  The issues meet the criteria for the law of the case doctrine, and the Court’s rulings do not trigger any elements of the exception noted in Dierringer. 

The Board determined there was no intentional misrepresentation by the employer in connection with the settlement negotiations, and the employee was provided with a copy of the Board’s pamphlet, “Workers’ Compensation and You.”  The Court made no specific final determination of these two issues on appeal, the law of the case doctrine does not govern them.  Concerning misrepresentation, the Court held the Board used the incorrect standard, and remanded the issue of possible material misrepresentation to us.  

Under AS 23.30.122 the Board has the sole authority and responsibility to determine credibility of a witness’s testimony.  The Board determined the employee’s testimony was not credible in several instances.  The Court made no decision on this issue.  Accordingly, the doctrine of the law of the case does not apply.  Additionally, the AS 23.30.122 requires the Board to determine the credibility of specific testimony or other evidence.  “Credibility” has no meaning in the abstract.  For example a very accomplished neurosurgeon may have great credibility when testifying about surgical procedures involving the brain, but little credibility when offering opinions about quantum mechanics.  In the instant case, the Court has remanded certain matters to the Board for hearing.  Under AS 23.30.122 the Board is required to independently make credibility determinations concerning evidence presented on remand.  

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1.
The Board concludes the employee’s responses to the Interrogatories were true, responsive and complete, and fully complied with the requirements of AS 23.30.115(a) and Alaska Civil Rule 33(b)(1).  Accordingly, the Board will not grant the employer’s Petition to Compel Discovery.

2.
The Court’s decisions concerning the absence of fraud or duress in connection with the C&R settlement negotiation, and the absence of a fiduciary duty of the insurer toward the employee, are the law of the case and cannot be re-litigated in the hearing on remand.  The other issues asserted by the employer in the Petition to Determine Law of the Case are not controlled by that doctrine.

ORDER

1.
The employers’ Petition to Compel Discovery is denied.  

2.
The employers’ Petition to Determine Law of the Case is granted, in part.  On appeal, the Alaska Supreme Court established the law of the case concerning: concerning the absence of fraud or duress in connection with the C&R settlement negotiation, and the absence of a fiduciary duty of the insurer toward the employee.  All other aspects of the Petition to Determine Law of the Case are denied. 


Dated at Fairbanks, Alaska this 28 day of January, 2010.
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RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

EXTRAORDINARY REVIEW

Within 10 days after the date of service of the Board’s decision and order from which review is sought and before the filing of a timely request for reconsideration of the Board decision and order from which review is sought, a party may file a motion for extraordinary review seeking review of an interlocutory or other non-final Board decision or order with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission under 8 AAC 57.072 and 8 AAC 57.074.
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� Employee Seybert’s Petition for Reconsideration, dated May 4, 2004.


� Slip. Op. No. 48 (Alaska Supreme Court, March 19, 2004).


� AWCB Decision No. 04-0124 (May 24, 2004) at 3-11.


� Id.


� Id.


� See, e.g., Id. at 1065, n.7;,Blanas v. Bower, 3AN-98-03377 CI (Alaska Superior Court, July 27, 1999) at 13, 14, and 23.


� AWCB Decision No. 04-0124 (May 24, 2004) at 12,13, 15.


� 182 P.3d 1079 (Alaska, 2008).


� 182 P.3d 1079 (Alaska,2008).


� Note: The record at the time of the hearing contained no indication another hearing officer would be chairing the hearing.  The instant panel Chairman conducted multiple hearings on this case since 2002, chaired four decisions on this case, and chaired an earlier remand from the Superior Court.  Additionally, on December 1, 2009 the present hearing officer, as panel Chairman, granted the parties a stipulated request for a continuance of this hearing from December 5, 2009 to January 14, 2010. 


� Hearing argument by attorney McLaughlin.


� Hearing argument by attorney Hackett.


� 8 AAC 45.065(c).


� Prehearing Conference Summary, December 1, 2009.


� See AS 23.30.135(a); AS 23.30.155(h); 8 AAC 45.195.


� 161 P.3d 1232, 1246-1247 (Alaska 2007). In AT&T Alascom v. Orchitt, the Alaska Supreme Court addressed an employer’s appeal asserting, inter alia, that the hearing officer in the board panel should have disqualified himself under the procedures of AS 44.62.450(c) because of his position as an election official in the Alaska State Employee’s Union: “Administrative agency personnel are presumed to be honest and impartial until a party shows actual bias or prejudgment.  To show hearing officer bias, a party must show that the hearing officer had a predisposition to find against a party or that the hearing officer interfered with the orderly presentation of the evidence. [Tachick Freight Lines v. Dep't of Labor, 773 P.2d 451, 453 (Alaska 1989) (citing �HYPERLINK "http://web2.westlaw.com/find/default.wl?tf=-1&serialnum=1974123489&rs=WLW8.11&referencepositiontype=S&ifm=NotSet&fn=_top&sv=Split&referenceposition=83&findtype=Y&tc=-1&ordoc=2012643091&db=661&utid=%7bA964D99D-1F59-47B6-8CAE-EA827F71DF61%7d&vr=2.0&rp=%2ffind%2fdefault.wl&mt=Alaska" \t "_top"�In re Cornelius, 520 P.2d 76, 83 (Alaska 1974)�)].  We conclude that the hearing officer's position as an AFL-CIO vice president is insufficient to show actual or probable bias on its own. Although the chair ruled against AT & T on some procedural questions, that alone is not sufficient to show a predisposition to find against AT & T. AT & T has made no showing that the hearing officer prejudged any facts in this case or was motivated by actual bias in ruling on procedural issues. . . .” (Id. at 1246.)  The Court noted the Code of Hearing Officer Conduct looks to the Code of Judicial Conduct for guidance, by reference.  Because the parties did not brief the applicability of either code in that case, the Court did not decide that issue. (Id. at 1247.)  Nevertheless, the Court found that the hearing officer's position as a union officer would not, in itself, violate the Code of Judicial Conduct in any event. (Id.)  Although the Court noted the chair ruled against the employer in that case on some procedural questions, the Court determined that alone was not sufficient to show a predisposition to find against the employer. (Id. at 1246.)  In accord with the Court’s direction in Orchitt, the Board presumes panel members and agency personnel are impartial, and require evidence showing prejudgment or actual or probable bias as a basis for recusal.


	Recently, in Gottstein, et al. v. State of Alaska, D.N.R., Div. of Oil & Gas, __ P.3d __ (Alaska 2010), Slip Op. No. 6452 (January 22, 2010), the Alaska Supreme Court reaffirmed its standard that in administrative adjudication proceedings “agency personnel are presumed to be impartial until a party shows actual bias or prejudgment.”  Id. at 42.


	In Hope v. Redi Electric, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 09-0021 (February  3, 2009), at 11-12, the Board discussed this issue in relation to another Alaska Supreme Court decision:


 “In another case, DeNardo v. Maassen (“DeNardo II”),[ 200 P.2d 305 (Alaska 2009)] Mr. DeNardo filed a motion to recuse the judge for cause, alleging he was biased because he was a named defendant in another suit brought by Mr. DeNardo.[Id. at 310.]  The judge declined to recuse himself because “[t]his court does not feel as though it must recuse itself merely because it is being sued in another case by Mr. DeNardo.” [Id.]  The judge’s decision not to recuse himself was reviewed by another superior court judge, who concluded the judge had properly refused to recuse himself. [Id.]  The Alaska Supreme Court reviewed AS 22.20.020(a) and the Alaska Code of Judicial Conduct, Canons 2 and 3, the law governing recusals.  The Court noted AS 22.30.020(a) requires a judge’s recusal if he or she “feels that, for any reason, a fair and impartial decision cannot be given.”[Id.]   Canon 2 provides judges must “avoid impropriety and the appearance of impropriety, and act in a manner that promotes public confidence in the integrity and impartiality of the judiciary.”[Id.]  Canon 3 requires judges to perform their duties without bias or prejudice, and in addition, requires a judge to give weight to the appearance of impropriety in making a determination of whether or not to disqualify himself. [Id.]   The Court also noted a judge has as great an obligation not to disqualify himself when there is no occasion to do so as he has when there are valid reasons to do so. [Id. at 310-311]  The Court found the record did not contain, nor had Mr. DeNardo pointed to, any specific evidence of actual bias or an appearance of bias by the judge.[Id. at 311]  The Court stated its past holdings demonstrated neither a judge’s interpretations of the law or adverse rulings alone were sufficient to require recusal. [Id.]  The Court held “disqualification is not required simply because a party is separately suing the judge in the judge’s official capacity or based on the judge’s performance of official duties, as long as the judge reasonably believes he or she can be fair and impartial.”[Id.]  We see no significant difference between Mr. DeNardo suing the judge and seeking his disqualification on that basis, and Ms. [*****] and her client filing complaints against Hearing Officer [*****] and seeking his disqualification on those bases.” (footnotes omitted.)


	See, also,  Municipality of Anchorage v. Faust, AWCAC Decision No. 078, at App. 1, p. 28-29 (May 22, 2008);  Witbeck v. Superstructures, Inc, AWCAC Decision No. 066, at 16-17 & fn 46 (January 23, 2008); Taylor v. Wal Mart Stores, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 09-0021 (February 3, 2009) at 15-17; Woodin v. Agrium, AWCB Decision No. 08-0136 (July 23, 2008) at 22.


� 8 AAC 45.105.  Code of conduct.  


(a) Nothing in this section relieves board member’s duty to comply with the provisions of AS 39.52.010 – 39.52.960 (Alaska Executive Branch Ethics Act), and 9 AAC 52.010 – 9 AAC 52.990. A board member holds office as a public trust, and an effort to benefit from a personal or financial interest through official action is a violation of that trust.  A board member is drawn from society and cannot and should not be without personal and financial interests in the decisions and policies of government.  An individual who serves as a board member retains rights to interests of a personal or financial nature.  Standards of ethical conduct for a board member distinguish between those minor and inconsequential conflicts that are unavoidable in a free society, and those conflicts of interests that are substantial and material.


(b)  The provisions of this section do not prevent a board member from following other independent pursuits, if those pursuits do not interfere with the full and faithful discharge of a board member’s public duties and responsibilities under AS 23.30 and this chapter.


(c)  The recusal of a board panel member for a conflict of interest under the procedures set out in 8 AAC 45.106 may occur only if the recusal is based on clear and convincing evidence that the board panel member


(1) has a conflict of interest that is substantial and material; or


(2) shows actual bias or prejudgment.


(d)  The recusal of a board panel member to avoid impropriety or the appearance of impropriety under the procedures set out in 8 AAC 45.106 may occur only if the recusal is based on clear and convincing evidence that the board panel member 


(1) has a personal or financial interest that is substantial and material; or


(2) shows actual bias or prejudgment.  


(e)  Unethical conduct is prohibited, but there is no substantial impropriety or substantial appearance of impropriety if, as to a specific matter, the standards of AS 39.52.110(b) would permit participation. 


8 AAC 45.106.  Procedures for board panel members to avoid conflicts of interest, impropriety and appearance of impropriety.  


(a)  Before conducting a hearing on a case, each board panel member shall be given the names of the parties involved in the hearing and any other appropriate information necessary for the board panel member to determine if the individual member, or another member, has a conflict of interest as described in 8 AAC 45.105.


(b) If a board panel member determines that the member has a potential conflict of interest, the potential conflict of interest shall be disclosed to the board panel chair before the hearing.


(c) Upon notification by a board panel member of a potential conflict of interest under (b) of this section, the board panel chair shall request that the board panel member recuse oneself or refer the matter to the remainder of the board panel to determine if recusal is appropriate.


 (d)  If before a scheduled hearing begins, a party has knowledge of a potential conflict of interest or knowledge that a board panel member’s circumstances may present a potential impropriety or appearance of impropriety, the party may file a petition with the commissioner, or the commissioner’s designated hearing officer under AS 23.30.005(b), objecting to the board panel member and briefly outline the reasons.  If a petition is filed under this subsection, the commissioner, or the commissioner’s designated hearing officer, shall forward the objection to the board panel member who is the subject of the petition for the member’s review.  If the board panel member does not recuse oneself from the proceeding, the remaining board panel members shall determine whether the board panel member who is the subject of the petition may hear the case.  


Additionally, the Board has long recognized Alaska Executive Branch Ethics Act AS 39.52.110, et seq, to govern the actions of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board panels, including designated hearing officer’s chairing the panels, and applies the procedures from the Board’s regulations at 8 AAC 45.105 and 8 AAC 45.106 to recusal requests in its proceedings. (See, e.g., Travers v. Yen King Chinese Restaurant, et al. AWCB Decision No. 98-0197 (July 30, 1998)).  Additionally, pursuant to AS 44.64.050(b), in 2006 the Department of Administration adopted a Code of Hearing Officer Conduct, at: 2 AAC 64.030(a)-(c), Canons of Conduct; and 2 AAC 64.040(a)-(d), Conflicts. 


� At AS 39.52.140 The Alaska Executive Branch Ethics Act prohibits disclosure of information made confidential by law.


� The record contains depositions of Sandra Stuller, Linda Rudolph, Hilari Fleming, M,D., Bruce Dalrymple, Thomas Williamson-Kirkland, M.D., Kenneth Seybert (2001), and Kenneth Seybert (2004).


� In Denuptiis v. Unocal Corp., 63 P.3d 272 (Alaska 2003), the Alaska Supreme Court held that, in the absence of any specific standard of proof, we must apply the preponderance of the evidence standard from the Alaska Administrative Procedure Act, AS 44.62.460(e).


� Claimant Seybert’s Answers to Employer / Insurer’s Third Set of Interrogatories, dated June 22, 2009, and Attorney’s Supplemental Objections to Employer / Insurer’s Third Set of Interrogatories, dated July 13, 2009.


� Petition filed August 10, 2009.


� Opposition and Petition for protective order, filed August 28, 2009.  See also Seybert’s Reply to Opposition to Seybert’s Cross-Petition for Protective Order, dated October 20, 2009.


� Id.


� Id.


� Reply filed September 24, 2009.


� Id.


� Id.


� Petition and Memorandum filed November 5, 2009.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id.


� Opposition filed December 18, 2009.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id.


� Id.


� Schwab V. Hooper Electric, AWCB Decision No. 87�0322 at 4, n.2 (December  11, 1987); citing United Services Automobile Association v. Werley, 526 P.2d 28, 31 (Alaska 1974); see also, Venables v. Alaska Builders Cache, AWCB Decision No. 94-0115 (May 12, 1994).  


� See, e.g., Sullivan v. Casa Valdez Restaurant, AWCB Decision No. 98-0296 (November 30, 1998); McCarrol v. Catholic Public Social Services, AWCB Decision No. 97-0241 (November 28, 1997). 


� Case No. 3AN-05-12979 CI (Alaska Superior Ct, April 26, 2007).


� Id. at 17.


� 8 AAC 45.120(e).


� Austin v. Tatonduk Outfitters, AWCB Decision No. 98-0201 (August 5, 1998); AS 23.30.135(a).


� See, e.g., Smith v. CSK Auto, Inc., WCAC Final Decision, Appeal No. 05-006 (January 27, 2006); Pratt v. Catholic Community Services, AWCB Decision No. 02-0232 (November 7, 2002); Groom v. State of Alaska, D.O.T., AWCB Decision No. 02-0139 (July 25, 2002); Yarborough v. Fairbanks Resource Agency, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 01-0229 (November 15, 2001).


� Tape 00-28, Side A, Number 2275.


� Id.


� AS 23.30.135(a).


� Brinkley v. Kiewit�Groves, AWCB Decision No. 86�0179 at 5 (July 22, 1986).


� See, e.g., Bathony v. State of Alaska, D.E.C., AWCB Decision No. 98-0053 (March 18, 1998).


� 560 P.2d 758 (Alaska 1997).


� Id. at 763.


� 187 P.3d 468 (Alaska2008).


� Id. at 474.


� 209 P.3d 1012 (Alaska,2009).


� Id. at 1016-1017.


� AS 23.30.135.


� 560 P.2d at 763.


� 187 P.3d at 474.


� 209 P.3d 1016-1017.
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